# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Landon Shores,

Appellant/Defendant

vs.

Global Experience Specialists, Inc.,

Respondent/Plaintiff

Electronically Filed Jun 20 2017 09:32 a.m. Case No.7271 Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

# **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

Mark M. Jones, Esq. (#267) m.jones@kempjones.com Madison Zornes-Vela, Esq. (#13626) m.zornes-vela@kempjones.com KEMP, JONES & COULTHARD, LLP 3800 Howard Hughes Parkway, 17th Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 Telephone: (702) 385-6000 Facsimile: (702) 385-6001

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT LANDON SHORES

# **NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE**

# JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Supreme Court of Nevada has jurisdiction over this case pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(3). NRAP 3A(b)(3) permits an appeal from an order granting an injunction.

Appellant Landon Shores ("Shores") is appealing the district court's order granting a Preliminary Injunction in Respondent Global Experience Specialists, Inc.'s ("GES") favor on March 23, 2017.

The district court granted GES's Motion for Preliminary Injunction and entered the Preliminary Injunction on March 23, 2017. Shores timely filed a Notice of Appeal in the district court on March 24, 2017. See NRAP (4)(a)(1).

On May 30, 2017, the Nevada Supreme Court granted Appellant's Motion to Stay the Preliminary Injunction Pending Appeal, and determined that an expedited briefing schedule was warranted. Pursuant to the expedited briefing schedule set by the Nevada Supreme Court, Appellant's brief is to be filed by June 19, 2017.

### NRAP 17 ROUTING STATEMENT

The routing of cases is addressed in NRAP 17. Under NRAP 17(a)(10), appeals from cases originating in business court are assigned to the Supreme Court. The instant appeal arises from a case originating in Department XII of Eighth Judicial District Court, which is designated as a business court and, therefore, falls within the

Appeals. As of today's date, Shores believes this case has not yet been assigned by the Nevada Supreme Court to the Court of Appeals.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

Under Nevada law, a noncompete agreement must be reasonable to be enforceable. A noncompete clause is unreasonable if it imposes restraints greater than necessary to protect the employer's interest or imposes an undue burden on the former employee. An unreasonable clause in the noncompete agreement renders the entire agreement unenforceable as a matter of law.

To be reasonable, a territorial restriction in a noncompete agreement must be limited to areas in which the employer has a protectable business interest in the form of established customer contacts and goodwill. GES's Noncompete Agreement contains a blanket nationwide territorial restriction, but GES failed to provide evidence in obtaining its preliminary injunction that it had customer contacts and goodwill throughout the United States. Did the district court err in determining that the nationwide territorial restriction in the subject noncompete agreement was nonetheless reasonable, by relying solely on nonbinding, non-Nevada case law in spite of applicable black letter Nevada law to the contrary?

Did the district court further err in determining that the subject noncompete agreement was reasonable in spite the fact that the Noncompete Agreement is broader than necessary to protect GES because it precludes Appellant's future

employment that does not threaten GES's legitimate business interests and imposes an undue burden on Appellant?

Did the district court err in granting the Preliminary Injunction because the balance of harms weighs in Shores' favor and because GES failed to meet its burden to show irreparable harm, while Shores demonstrated irreparable harm in being forced to comply with an unenforceable noncompete agreement?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of Respondent GES's attempt to enforce a noncompete agreement containing a noncompete clause with a nationwide territorial scope against Shores after Shores left GES's employment in January 2017. In March 2017, GES brought a Complaint against Shores, alleging claims for breach of contract, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, unjust enrichment, and injunctive relief, and moved for a Preliminary Injunction. The district court entered its order granting GES's Motion for Preliminary Injunction on March 23, 2017 and on March 24, 2017 Shores filed a Notice of Appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

# A. Shores' Employment with GES and Freeman

Shores began working for GES in 2013. Joint Appendix ("App."), Vol. I, at APP000066. GES is a general services contractor and, in that capacity, builds show floors for trade shows, conventions and corporate events. App., Vol I, at APP000066.

Generally, GES signs a contract with the show organizer and then all exhibitors for the show are required to utilize GES for certain services. App., Vol I, at APP000066. Shores' duties included soliciting show organizers to sign a contract with GES. App., Vol I, at APP000066.

Shores signed the subject Confidentiality and Non-Competition Agreement ("Noncompete Agreement") in or around September of 2016. App., Vol. I at APP000035-42. Section 1.6A of the Noncompete Agreement (the "Noncompete Clause") purports to prevent Shores from indirectly or directly competing with GES or performing services similar to those Shores performed at GES throughout the United States for a period of 12 months after leaving GES:

Employee agrees that he/she will not directly or indirectly compete against the Company, whether as an employee, consultant, or otherwise, by performing services on his/her own behalf and/or on the behalf of any third party that are competitive with and/or similar to the services that Employee performed for the Company during the last twelve (12) months of his/her employment with the Company. Without limiting the foregoing, this restriction also applies to those parent companies, affiliates, and subsidiaries of the Company's competitors, including any successors or assigns whether now owned or purchased as a result of a stock and/or asset purchase, and/or acquired via merger or any other means during the term of this Agreement.

• • •

Employee agrees that a geographical restriction on competitive employment in the United States...is reasonable and necessary to protect the Company's legitimate business interests.

App., Vol. I, at APP000037-38. (emphasis added).

Shores accepted a sales position with Freeman Expositions, Inc. ("Freeman") in Anaheim, California and began working for Freeman on or about February 1, 2017. App., Vol. I, at APP000066. Shores moved to Anaheim, California, acquired a California driver's license. App., Vol. I, at APP000067, and became a resident of California before he began working for Freeman.

## **B.** Lower Court Proceedings

On January 31, 2017, GES filed a Complaint against Shores, alleging claims for breach of contract, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, unjust enrichment, and injunctive relief. App., Vol. I, at APP000001-6. On the same day, GES filed a Motion for Preliminary Injunction pursuant to the Noncompete Agreement, requesting an order enjoining Shores from: 1) soliciting or doing any business with any clients of GES; and 2) performing any work which would be in competition with GES. App., Vol. I, at APP000007-44. In support of its Motion for Preliminary Injunction, GES provided only the Declaration of Thomas Page and copies of various agreements signed by Shores, including the Noncompete Agreement. App., Vol. I, at APP000021-44.

Shores filed his opposition to GES's Motion for Preliminary Injunction on February 23, 2017, which noted in part that GES provided **no evidence** of its alleged nationwide business territory in its Motion. App., Vol. I at APP000045-70. In its Reply, GES finally provided evidence it alleged supported the nationwide territorial restriction in the Noncompete Clause. App., Vol. II, at APP000071-161. GES

attached a schedule of all events for which it had contracted from December of 2015 through the end of 2017 ("Contract List") to the Declaration of Jon Massimino. App., Vol. II, at APP000082-153. GES also provided a spreadsheet summarizing the event locations identified in the Contracts List by city ("City Spreadsheet"), attached to the Declaration of David Malley. App., Vol. II, at APP000154-161. GES's Contract List and City Spreadsheet demonstrate that GES has not contracted for any events in seventeen (17) of fifty (50) states since December 2015. App. Vol. II at APP000082-161. This evidence further demonstrates that GES has contracted for fewer than ten (10) events in only certain cities in sixteen (16) additional states. App. Vol. II at APP000082-161.

The district court heard GES's Motion for Preliminary Injunction on March 6, 2017, and granted GES's Motion for Preliminary Injunction "to the extent that [Shores] can't be the sales manager. In other words, he can't do the – do what he was doing with Global Experience Specialists." App., Vol. II, at APP000162-186.

The district court entered the Preliminary Injunction on March 23, 2017, which enjoined Shores from a broad scope of employment activities for twelve months, commencing January 1, 2017. App., Vol. II at APP000189-198. In its Preliminary Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law the district court found that the nationwide scope of the Noncompete Clause was reasonable:

 GES presented evidence that it operates on a national scale, including evidence that between December 2015 and March 2017, GES operated in at least 33 states, plus Washington, D.C. and Puerto Rico, and in 119 different cities.

- The relief sought by way of the present motion is an injunction to prevent Shores from soliciting or doing any business with any clients of GES and from performing any services on his own behalf or on behalf of any third party that would be similar to and/or competitive with the services he performed for GES.
- The nationwide geographic scope of the covenant not to compete contained in the Agreement is also reasonable. The Court disagrees with Shores that a nationwide restriction on employment is unreasonable as a matter of law. Rather, a nationwide restriction is reasonable if it is justified by the nationwide nature of the employer's business. (citing numerous non-Nevada cases) (citations omitted).
- Here, a nationwide restriction is reasonable based on the nationwide nature of GES' business, as well as the work Shores performed for GES with respect to events at locations across the country.

App., Vol. II at APP000192-195.

The district court further found that GES demonstrated it would suffer irreparable harm due to Shores' alleged competitive conduct, and that any hardship suffered by Shores was outweighed by the harm suffered by GES. App., Vol. II at APP000195-197.

Shores filed a Notice of Appeal in the district court on March 24, 2017 and in the Nevada Supreme Court on April 3, 2017. App., Vol. III at APP000211-212.

# C. Appellant's Motion to Stay

On March 27, 2017, Shores filed a Motion to Stay Enforcement of the Preliminary Injunction on Order Shortening Time. App., Vol. III, at APP000213-236.

GES filed its Opposition on March 28, 2017, and the hearing on the Motion was held March 30, 2017. App., Vol. III, at APP000237-271. On April 6, 2017, the district court entered an order granting in part Shores' Motion to Stay Enforcement of Preliminary Injunction, issuing only a temporary fifteen-day stay. App., Vol. III, at APP000272-75.

On April 10, 2017, Shores filed a Motion to Stay the Preliminary Injunction Pending Appeal with the Nevada Supreme Court. See Appellant Landon Shores' Motion to Stay Preliminary Injunction Pending Appeal (on file). GES filed its Response on April 13, 2017 and Shores filed his Reply on April 21, 2017. See Response to Motion to Stay Preliminary Injunction Pending Appeal (on file); see also Appellant Landon Shores' Reply to Response to Motion to Stay Preliminary Injunction Pending Appeal (on file). On May 30, 2017, the Nevada Supreme Court granted Appellant's Motion to Stay the Preliminary Injunction, and determined that an expedited briefing schedule was warranted. See Order Granting Motion for Stay Pending Appeal and Setting Expedited Briefing Schedule (on file).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court must vacate the Preliminary Injunction because the district court committed error and manifestly abused its discretion by granting GES's Motion for Preliminary Injunction.

The district court's decision must be reversed because GES does not enjoy a reasonable likelihood of success on the merits. The Noncompete Clause is

unreasonably broad for a multitude of reasons and, therefore, is unenforceable under Nevada law. In addition, while Shores demonstrated that he would suffer irreparable harm if the Preliminary Injunction was entered pursuant to the terms of the unenforceable Noncompete Agreement, GES failed to establish irreparable harm. Therefore, the district court erred in finding that GES met its burden to obtain the Preliminary Injunction and the Preliminary Injunction must be vacated.

The Noncompete Clause is unreasonable for at least three different reasons, each of which is sufficient to render the Noncompete Agreement unenforceable as a matter of law.

First and foremost, the Noncompete Clause is unreasonable because its territorial scope is not limited to the areas in which GES has established customer contacts and good will. It is well settled under Nevada law that a noncompete clause cannot restrict an employee from working in a territory in which the employer does not have established customers and goodwill. See Camco, Inc. v. Baker, 936 P.2d 829, 833-34 (Nev. 1997). In determining that the nationwide territorial scope of the Noncompete was reasonable, the district court applied the incorrect legal standard. Rather than rely on the Nevada Supreme Court's clear precedent in Camco, the district court relied solely on non-Nevada cases in direct contradiction of applicable black letter Nevada law. As such, the district court's decision was clearly erroneous.

Under the applicable legal standard set forth in *Camco*, it is clear that the territorial restriction in the Noncompete Agreement is unreasonable. GES failed to present evidence that it had established customers and goodwill throughout the United States to justify the nationwide prohibition on Shores' future competitive

employment. Thus, the Noncompete Agreement is overbroad because its territorial restriction is not limited to territory in which GES has established customer contacts and goodwill.

The only evidence GES provided in support of its Motion for Preliminary Injunction demonstrates that GES has not contracted to provide any services in seventeen (17) of fifty (50) states since December 2015. This evidence also shows that GES has a *de minimis* presence in an additional sixteen (16) states, which is insufficient to establish customer contacts and goodwill throughout those states. Thus, there are a total of thirty-three (33) states in which GES cannot show the requisite established customers and goodwill. Under *Camco*, GES clearly failed to provide any evidence, let alone substantial evidence to support the blanket nationwide territorial restriction in the Noncompete Clause. As such, the district court abused its discretion in determining that the nationwide territorial restriction in the Noncompete Clause was reasonable.

Second, the Noncompete Clause is unreasonable as a matter of law because its scope is broader than necessary to protect GES' legitimate business interests. See Golden Rd. Motor Inn, Inc. v. Islam, 376 P.3d 151, 155 (Nev. 2016). Even assuming GES could demonstrate that it had established customers and goodwill in every territory in every state (which it has not done and cannot do), GES cannot show that it has a legitimate business interest in preventing Shores from performing the same or similar job functions for companies that do not compete with GES. Thus, the district court erred in determining that the Noncompete Clause was reasonable because it imposes

restraints against Shores that are broader than necessary to protect GES's potential business interests.

Third, the Noncompete Clause is unreasonable because it imposes an undue burden on Shores by seeking to preclude Shores from working in his chosen profession throughout the entire United States, which effectually forces him to leave the United States to continue working in his chosen and developed profession.

Therefore, even assuming GES had a legitimate business interest in enforcing the Noncompete Agreement throughout the entire United States, which is does not, the Noncompete Agreement is unreasonable because it imposes an undue burden on Shores.

To the extent this Court considers the balance of harms, the district court abused its discretion by entering the Preliminary Injunction because a balance of the relative harms shows that GES was not entitled to a preliminary injunction. GES did not meet its burden to show irreparable harm. Conversely, Shores has shown that he will suffer irreparable harm if he is forced to comply with a Preliminary Injunction based on a noncompete agreement that is unenforceable as a matter of law.

Accordingly, the district court erred in entering the Preliminary Injunction in favor of GES and must be vacated by this Court.

/// /// ///

#### **ARGUMENT**

A. The district court erred by granting GES's Motion for Preliminary Injunction because GES does not enjoy a likelihood of success on the merits.

## 1. Preliminary Injunction Factors

"NRS 33.010(1) authorizes an injunction when it appears from the complaint that the plaintiff is entitled to the relief requested and at least part of the relief consists of restraining the challenged act." Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. of Nevada v. Nevadans for Sound Gov't, 100 P.3d 179, 187 (Nev. 2004). A party seeking the issuance of a preliminary injunction bears the burden of establishing (1) a likelihood of success on the merits; and (2) a reasonable probability that the non-moving party's conduct, if allowed to continue, will cause irreparable harm for which compensatory damage is an inadequate remedy. S.O.C., Inc. v. Mirage Casino-Hotel, 23 P.3d 243, 246 (Nev. 2001).

Courts also weigh the potential hardships to the relative parties and others, and the public interest. Nevadans for Sound Gov't, 100 P.3d at 187.

#### 2. Standard of Review

The determination of whether to grant or deny a preliminary injunction is within the district court's sound discretion. *Nevadans for Sound Gov't*, 100 P.3d at 187. On appeal, the appellate court's review is limited to the record, and the district court's decision will be disturbed if the district court abused its discretion or if the district court's decision was based on an erroneous legal standard. *Id.* Questions of law are

reviewed de novo and factual determinations will be set aside if clearly erroneous or not support by substantial evidence. *Id.* 

If the appellate court determines that the proponent of the preliminary injunction does not enjoy a likelihood of success on the merits, it need not address the issue of irreparable harm. *Camco*, 936 P.2d at 834 ("Because we conclude that Camco does not enjoy a reasonable likelihood of success on the merits we need not address the issue of irreparable harm.").

- 3. The district court erred as a matter of law by finding that GES enjoyed a likelihood of success on the merits because the Noncompete Clause is unreasonable and, therefore, the Noncompete Agreement is unenforceable.
  - a. Noncompete Agreements are only enforceable under Nevada law if they are reasonable.

To determine whether a former employer enjoys a reasonable likelihood of success on the merits of its case to enforce a noncompete covenant, the court must consider whether the provisions of the noncompete covenant will likely be found reasonable at trial. *Camco*, 936 P.2d at 832 (citing *Hansen v. Edwards*, 426 P.2d 792, 793 (Nev. 1967)).

Pursuant to Nevada public policy, noncompete covenants are restraints of trade and will not be enforced unless reasonable. *See Hansen*, 426 P.2d at 793; *see also Camco*, 936 P.2d at 834; *Golden Road*, 376 P.3d at 158. "We have been especially cognizant of the care that must be taken in drafting in contracts that are in restraint of trade." *Camco*, 376 P.3d at 158. A noncompete covenant will be upheld only if the

covenant is reasonably necessary to protect the business and good will of the employer. Jones v. Deeter, 913 P.2d 1272, 1275 (Nev. 1996) (citing Hansen, 426 P.2d at 793). Post-employment noncompete covenants are subject to increased scrutiny because "the loss of a person's livelihood is a very serious matter[.]" Ellis v. McDaniel, 596 P.2d 222, 224 (Nev. 1979). "A strict test for reasonableness is applied to restrictive covenants in employment cases because the economic hardship imposed on employees is given considerable weight." Golden Road., 376 P.3d at 158 (citing Ferdinand S. Tinio, Annotation, Enforceability, Insofar as Restrictions Would Be Reasonable, of Contract Containing Unreasonable Restrictions on Competition, 61 A.L.R.3d 397, § 2b (1975)). "[L]eniency must favor the employee and the terms of the contract must be construed in the employees favor." Id. at 158.

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