IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Supreme Court Case No. 72716

Electronically Filed Jul 18 2017 02:47 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

LANDON SHORES, Appellant,

VS.

GLOBAL EXPERIENCE SPECIALISTS, INC. Respondent.

Appeal

From the Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada in and for the County of Clark.

> The Honorable Mark Denton, District Judge District Court Case No. A-17-750273-B

> RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. This Court Should Not Overturn The Preliminary Injunction

Because The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion.

1. Standard of review

In *S.O.C., Inc. v. Mirage Casino-Hotel*, 117 Nev. 403, 407, 23 P.3d 243, 246 (2001), this Court held that the decision to grant a preliminary injunction is within the sound discretion of the district court and will not be disturbed absent abuse, findings of fact will not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and questions of law are reviewed de novo. Applying the same standards, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals has stated, "As long as the district court got the law right, it will not be reversed simply because [we] would have arrived at a different result if [we] had applied the law to the facts of the case." *A&M Records, Inc. v. Napster, Inc.*, 284 F.3d 1091, 1096 (9th Cir. 2002).

As a consequence of the broad discretion the district court enjoys in this regard, this Court's long-held general rule is that it will not overturn the lower court's

ruling on a preliminary injunction. *Dixon v. Thatcher*, 103 Nev. 414, 417, 742 P.2d 1029, 1031 (1987) (reversing the district court's *denial* of the request for preliminary injunction), *Nevada Escrow Service, Inc. v. Crockett*, 91 Nev. 201, 202-03, 533 P.2d 471, 472 (1975) (same).

Here, as shown below and in the record, the district court's findings of fact were not clearly erroneous but were supported by substantial evidence. Thus, the district court acted well within its discretion when it granted the Preliminary Injunction. And, because the district court was correct on the law, this Court should not reverse the Preliminary Injunction on the basis that it would have arrived at a different result if it were to apply the law to the facts.

2. The district court was entitled to rely on preliminary evidence when granting the Preliminary Injunction

This Court's general rule not to overturn a district court's determination in the matter of a preliminary injunction recognizes that preliminary injunctive relief is often entered on less-than-complete evidence. For example, in *Crockett*, this Court reversed the district court's denial of the plaintiff's request for a preliminary injunction. 91 Nev. at 203, 533 P.2d at 472. In that case, the plaintiff sought an injunction to halt a foreclosure sale. *Id.* at 202, 533 P.2d at 472. The district court determined that money damages would be an adequate remedy and therefore denied the preliminary injunction. *Id.* On appeal, this Court held:

It is unusual when this court will overturn the determination of the trial court in the matter of a preliminary injunction but in this instance we feel compelled to do so. The central issue probably will be whether or not Acro was the agent of the Crocketts. For the purpose of a preliminary injunction to halt a threatened foreclosure on the property that is the subject of the proposed purchase and about which the litigation arose a prima facie showing of agency of Acro to the Crocketts need only be shown. What the total factual pattern is, of course, is left to be developed at the trial. . . Taking into consideration the several principles of law that probably will be involved by the time this matter is finally resolved it is the opinion of this court that the preliminary injunction enjoining the foreclosure on the deeds of trust should issue. In this instance the equitable remedy is so far superior that the legal remedy may be rendered inadequate.

Id. at 203, 533 P.2d 472 (emphasis added).

That preliminary injunctions may be entered on preliminary and often incomplete information was also discussed in *Hansen v. Edwards*, 83 Nev. 189, 426 P.2d 792 (1967). There, the district court granted a preliminary injunction precluding a doctor from competing with his former employer. *Id.* at 191, 426 P.2d at 793. This Court affirmed the entry of the preliminary injunction. *Id.* at 193, 426 P.2d at 794. In so ruling, the majority recognized that the trial court only decided that the covenant not to compete was valid and reserved the question of reasonableness for a trial on the merits. *Id.* Nevertheless, the Court elected to modify the injunction based on its determination that the trial court record was complete, thus justifying this Court's modification of the time restriction from

essentially unlimited to one year, and the geographic limitations from 100 miles of Reno to the Reno city limits. *Id*.

Justice Collins' concurrence in part and dissent in part is instructive on the matter at issue here. Justice Collins agreed that issuance of the preliminary injunction was proper, but disagreed with the majority's decision to make a final adjudication on the reasonableness of the covenant in such an interlocutory appeal. He stated:

However, I do not agree that a review of the record of the hearing pertaining to the granting of the injunction now permits us to fix, as a matter of law, the reasonableness of the restraint either as to time or space. This appeal is from the propriety of the granting of the injunction, not a determination of the reasonableness of the covenant on the merits of the entire controversy. . . .

We should decide, in my opinion, only that covenants in restraint of trade are not ipso facto void in Nevada under our existing general principles of law. Therefore, the granting of the preliminary injunction pending a determination on the merits was within the lower court's discretion. . . .

The reasonableness of the restraint as to time requires a further factual consideration in this case which is not within our province to make initially. . . I feel that the court is departing from its proper role in fixing at this state of the proceedings the operative limits of time and space of the covenant in the contract.

The court is not just modifying the preliminary injunction pending trial on the merits, for some reasonable, compelling purpose . . . but is making final adjudication of the matter, on both fact and law.

Id. at 193, 426 P.2d 794-95 (internal citations omitted). In this appeal, Shores asks this Court to do exactly what Justice Collins advised against doing – making a final adjudication of the facts and the law on an interlocutory appeal of a preliminary injunction.

3. It would have been inappropriate for the district court to find as a matter of law that the Agreement was unenforceable

As noted above, Shores does not argue that the nationwide geographic scope of the Agreement is unreasonable as a matter of law. Instead, he argues that the district court was required to find that GES does not have a national presence. As a result, Shores contends that the district court erred and that this Court must find the Agreement unenforceable based on the evidence thus far presented.

Numerous courts, including the United States Supreme Court, have recognized that a final ruling on the merits of the dispute is inappropriate at the preliminary injunction stage because the evidence is not as complete as it would be at a trial on the merits.⁵ *See Arce v. Douglas*, 793 F.3d 968, 976 (9th Cir. 2015) (recognizing that "it is unlikely that the merits of a claim will be fully ventilated at the early stage of a litigation at which a preliminary injunction is normally

16

⁵ Neither party here requested that the preliminary injunction proceeding be consolidated with a trial on the merits as permitted by NRCP 65(a)(2). *See also* APP000264-000265 (recognizing that no request to consolidate with a trial on the merits or hold an evidentiary hearing had been made).

addressed" and holding that the district court erred by converting the preliminary injunction motion into a basis to grant summary judgment.); *Ciena Corp. v. Jarrard*, 203 F.3d 312, 324 (4th Cir. 2000) ("The district court here did not err in concluding, *as a preliminary matter*, that the noncompetition agreement in this case was reasonable, at least until Jarrard advances facts to show otherwise. . . While this issue will ultimately be developed through further proceedings, the district court did not err in concluding at this stage that CIENA had the better case on the merits.").

The U.S. Supreme Court has held similarly:

The purpose of a preliminary injunction is merely to preserve the relative positions of the parties until a trial on the merits can be held. Given this limited purpose, and given the haste that is often necessary if those positions are to be preserved, a preliminary injunction is customarily granted on the basis of procedures that are less formal and evidence that is less complete than in a trial on the merits. A party thus is not required to prove his case in full at a preliminary-injunction hearing and the findings of fact and conclusions of law made by a court granting a preliminary injunction are not binding at trial on the merits In light of these considerations, it is generally inappropriate for a federal court at the preliminary-injunction stage to give a final judgment on the merits.

Univ. of Texas v. Camenisch, 451 U.S. 390, 395 (1981) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

Despite this authority, Shores argues that the geographic scope of the employment restriction is unreasonable and, therefore, the Agreement is unenforceable based on the evidence so far presented to the district court. Shores'

argument in this regard goes to the ultimate issue of enforceability as opposed to whether sufficient evidence has been presented to support a preliminary injunction. The evidence presented thus far need not have established the ultimate issue of reasonableness (though GES believes it does), but instead needed only be sufficient to show a likelihood (and not necessarily a guarantee) of success on the merits.

4. The district court did not rely on an incorrect legal standard

Citing authority from this Court, Shores claims that the district court misapplied the law when it granted the Preliminary Injunction. Shores begins by citing Hansen, Jones v. Deeter, 112 Nev. 291, 913 P.2d 1272 (1996), and Golden Rd. Motor Inn, Inc. v. Islam, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 49, 376 P.3d 151 (2016). None of those cases mandate a different result here. Notably, each of those cases was decided either after trial or on motion for summary judgment or upon a determination by this Court that record on the interlocutory appeal was complete. See Hansen ("a review of the record permits the conclusion that nothing more can be added than is presently known that would affect a determination of that question [reasonableness]."), *Jones* (reversing summary judgment entered finding that a covenant not to compete was reasonable), Golden Rd. (affirming district court's decision made after trial that the noncompete agreement was unreasonable; this decision was also made despite the court earlier granting a preliminary injunction enforcing the agreement).

The determinations of reasonableness and enforceability in those cases were made after a full record was presented to the district court (and this Court). Here, on the other hand, Shores asks this Court to make the same determination when no discovery has been done, only preliminary evidence has been provided, and no final adjudication has been made. Indeed, the district court itself recognized that its factual findings were preliminary. APP000190 (where the district court itself interlineated the word "PRELIMINARY" before "FINDINGS OF FACT").

In further support of his argument, Shores posits that *Camco, Inc. v. Baker*, 113 Nev. 512, 936 P.2d 829 (1997) directly contradicts the authority relied on by the district court in the Preliminary Injunction. Opening Brief, page 17. Shores further claims that the district court relied solely on the nationwide nature of GES' business when it granted the Preliminary Injunction. Opening Brief, page 17. Neither of Shores' contentions are accurate.

In *Camco*, this Court held that a geographic restriction is reasonable if it is limited to the territory in which the former employer established customer contacts and good will. *Id.* at 520, 936 P.2d at 833-34. Because the agreement at issue there applied to areas that were the "target of a corporate plan for expansion," this Court was able to determine *as a matter of law* at the preliminary injunction stage that the geographic scope of the non-compete was unreasonable because it applied to areas that the employer had admittedly not yet ventured into. *Id.*

Here, because Shores does not claim that the geographic scope of the Agreement is unreasonable on its face, it would be error to rely on *Camco* to support his contention that this Court should find the Agreement to be unreasonable and against Nevada's public policy at this stage of the proceedings. *See* Opening Brief, page 20.

Moreover, the rule announced in *Camco* that a geographic scope is reasonable if limited to those areas in which the employer established customer contacts and good will is in line with the cases cited in the Preliminary Injunction that enforced nationwide geographic restrictions based on the former employer's having established a nationwide presence. APP000194-000195, ¶ 22 and cases cited therein, including Marshall v. Gore, 506 So. 2d 91 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1987) ("The evidence is sufficient to warrant the nationwide scope since appellee had sold fortytwo software programs to dairies in Pennsylvania, Iowa, Wisconsin, Ohio, Vermont, Missouri and Oregon. It also advertised in a nationwide dairy publication."); Aspen Mktg. Servs., Inc. v. Russell, No. 09 C 2864, 2009 WL 4674061 (N.D. III. Dec. 3, 2009) ("Accepting these allegations as true [that plaintiff developed exhibits and displays that toured events in approximately 40 states], the court finds that the [nationwide] geographic limitation in plaintiff's noncompete restrictive covenant is not per se unreasonable because plaintiff's mobile and interactive exhibits are displayed throughout the county.").

Those cases did not rely solely on the nature of the employer's business, and the district court here did not rely solely on the nationwide nature of GES' business. Instead, while recognizing that the nature of the employer's business is a relevant consideration, the district court and the courts in the cases cited in the Preliminary Injunction looked at the areas where the employer established customer contacts and good will. *See Marshall* (nationwide presence affirmed upon proof of doing business in 7 states and advertising in a nationwide trade publication), *Aspen Mktg.*, (developing trade show exhibits that toured 40 states). These cases do not conflict with *Camco*.

5. Substantial evidence supports the district court's decision to enforce the nationwide geographic restriction

At its core, Shores' argument comes down to the meaning of "throughout the United States." The Agreement provides that Shores acknowledges that GES "has customer and vendor accounts throughout the United States" and, therefore, that a geographical restriction on competitive employment in the United States is reasonable. APP000038. Shores contends that GES was required to establish that it had customer contacts in each of the fifty United States in order to prove a presence "throughout the United States." But Shores has never cited any authority for that proposition.

Rather, courts throughout the country have held employers to have a nationwide presence when the preliminary evidence does not establish contacts in all fifty states. See Marshall, 506 So. 2d 91 (a presence in seven states), Aspen Mktg. Servs., Inc., 2009 WL 4674061 (nationwide restriction enforced upon a showing of having done business in forty states). See also Gorman Pub. Co. v. Stillman, 516 F. Supp. 98, 104 (N.D. III. 1980) ("[T]he fact that the covenant applied nationwide was justified by the nationwide nature of Gorman's business."); Superior Consulting Co. v. Walling, 851 F. Supp. 839, 847 (E.D. Mich. 1994) ("SCC does business in fortythree states and a number of foreign nations. The unlimited geographic scope of the non-competition provision here was therefore not unreasonable."); Convergys Corp. v. Wellman, No. 1:07-CV-509, 2007 WL 4248202, at *7 (S.D. Ohio Nov. 30, 2007) (concluding a geographically restrictive covenant that included the United States, Canada, the Philippines, India, the United Kingdom, and Europe to be reasonable given the nearly global scope of the employers' operations); Scholastic Funding *Grp.*, *LLC v. Kimble*, No. CIV A 07-557 JLL, 2007 WL 1231795, at *5 (D.N.J. Apr. 24, 2007) ("[T]he Court does not find the lack of geographic limitation on the Non-Compete Provision unreasonable. Since the telemarketing industry is broad-ranging in its scope by the nature of its business (placing nationwide telephone calls), the geographic scope of the covenant, or lack thereof, is likely a reasonable restriction."), W. Publ'g Corp. v. Stanley, No. CIV. 03-5832 (JRT/FLN, 2004 WL

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